# IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

FILEO 36 POT 21 111 3:09

STATE OF FLORIDA, LAWTON CHILES, Governor of the State of Florida, and FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES,

Appellants,

89181

VŞ.

FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.; FLORIDA NURSES ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 96-3535

FILED

SIDE VARIETE

OCT 81 1996

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By

Charlespan Stark

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit
Case No. 88-2944

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

KIMBERLY J. TUCKER
Deputy General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0516937

WILLIAM W. WERTZ

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case was remanded by the Florida Supreme Court, in 1992, for development of a factual record necessary to determine the constitutionality of Section 9.3.A(5), of Chapter 88-555, Laws of Florida (1988). State v. Florida Police Benev. Ass'n,613 So.2d 415, 421 (Fla. 1992). As plead and pursuant to the order on remand, this case only involves a challenge to that portion of the 1988 Appropriations Act, by several public employee labor unions. However, based upon representations by union counsel concerning the facts and status of this case, the trial court has entered orders which expand the scope of this litigation beyond the Complaint and beyond the order on remand.

These trial court orders adjudicate matters relating to collective bargaining between these parties over the past eight years. The appealed orders threaten the fiscal integrity of the State, by ordering the creation of an obligation of more than \$500 million in State funds, including the expenditure of almost \$300 million from the State treasury in the absence of any valid appropriation by the Legislature; implicate the constitutionality of portions of all of the Appropriations Acts enacted during the past eight years; and attempt to nullify express contractual terms contained in ten separate collective bargaining agreements, entered between July 1, 1990 and the present, and ratified by the parties to this litigation.

At hearings in March and August of 1996, union counsel advised the trial court that the Defendants had "refused" to comply with orders of the trial court -- specifically, the March 14, 1990, Order of Judge William Gary entering final summary judgment for the unions -- and the unions asserted that the State had never negotiated over provisions for attendance and leave.

Union counsel alleged that the State had failed to negotiate over leave benefits in 1988 (prior to enactment of Section 9.3.A.(5) of Chapter 88-555, Laws of Florida) and all times thereafter.

Accordingly, the unions contended that they were entitled to "restoration" of leave, from 1988 to present, using the ratio of leave accrual abandoned by the Legislature when it enacted Section 9.3.A(5) of the 1988 Appropriations Act.

Based only on the bald allegations of union counsel, unsupported by any record evidence or sworn testimony, the trial court issued orders intended to remedy the alleged violation of the plaintiffs' collective bargaining rights by the Defendants spanning the past eight years -- alleged violations which are not plead in the Complaint and which are outside the scope of the case on remand.

Union counsel perfidiously represented the facts and law of this case, failing to advise the trial court that:

1. The March 14, 1990, order of Judge Gary had

been *quashed*<sup>1</sup> by the Supreme Court in its order on remand.

- 2. Negotiations had taken place over alteration of these leave provisions in 1988, before and after enactment of Section 9.3.A(5).
- 3. In 1989, the Legislature again modified the annual and sick leave accrual rates and use requirements. However, the unions never amended their Complaint to include a challenge of that proviso.
- 4. Plaintiff FNA had declared an impasse over this very issue of leave formulas in 1990, and the Legislature, through the impasse resolution process, had rejected the union's request to alter the leave accrual rates back to the August 1986 levels (See Chapter 90-209, Laws of Florida (p. 1485)).
- 5. Each of the ten subsequently executed collective bargaining agreements entered between the unions and the State, during the period 1990 to present, contain leave provisions, adopting an accrual formula different than that now sought to be judicially imposed by the unions.
- ten subsequently executed 6. Each of the collective bargaining agreements entered between the unions and the State, during the period 1990 to present, contain a "zipper clause" which expressly states that, upon ratification, the new agreement supersedes and cancels all previous agreements between the parties, written and oral -- all of these agreements were ratified by the unions. Further each of these "zipper clauses" expressly acknowledges that, during the negotiations which resulted in the new Agreement, each party had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in the new Agreement.

As a direct result of counsels' omissions and

Quash. To overthrow; to abate; to vacate; to annul; to make void. Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition.

misrepresentations, the trial court orders being appealed attempt to enforce a 1990 final judgment order entered by Judge William Gary -- an order that was quashed by the Florida Supreme Court in its order remanding this case. The effect of the trial court orders is to declare Section 9.3.A.(5) of Chapter 88-555, Laws of Florida, unconstitutional. The orders also implicate the constitutionality of Section 1.1-3.A.(5) of Chapter 89-253, Laws of Florida, and the impasse resolution provisions of Chapter 90-209, Laws of Florida (p. 1485); 91-193, Laws of Florida (p. 1875); Chapter 92-293, Laws of Florida (p. 2626); Chapter 93-184 (p. 1526); Chapter 94-357 (pp. 3208-3209); Chapter 95-429, Laws of Florida (pp. 4054-4055); Chapter 96-424, Laws of Florida (pp. 2741-42).

This appeal is taken pursuant to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(iv)and (5), Fla.R.App.P.

Plaintiffs are several labor unions representing public employees employed by the State of Florida. The Florida Police Benevolent Association (PBA) is the registered bargaining agent of employees for the law enforcement and security services bargaining units. The Florida Nurses Association (FNA) is the certified bargaining agent for the professional health care employees' bargaining unit. The American Federation of State and County Municipal Employees (AFSCME) is the registered bargaining agent for the Florida Public Employees Council 79. The foregoing

are referred to herein by name, or as Plaintiffs, Plaintiff unions, unions or as Appellees.

The State of Florida, Governor Lawton Chiles, and the Department of Management Services (successor agency to the Florida Department of Administration) were the Defendants below and are referred to herein by name, collectively as the State, or as Appellants.

The relevant portions of the records below are contained in appendices prepared by the Appellants and submitted to the Court for its review and use. Reference to the record below is designated herein by reference to the appropriate appendix volume and page number. ("Vol. #, p. #.").

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Statement of the Case and Facts submitted by Appellants covers the eight years for which the trial court has ordered relief. The Statement addresses: the procedural history of this case, the history of labor negotiations between these parties, the text of all collective bargaining agreements entered from 1987 to present, and relevant portions of the Appropriations Acts from 1988 to present.

### 1986

In August of 1986, as a result of collective bargaining between the State and several public employee labor unions, the Department of Administration proposed amendments to Rule 22A-8, F.A.C., of the personnel rules governing Career Service employees. As negotiated, annual and sick leave accrual rates were altered, giving Career Service employees 6 hours of annual leave and 2 hours of sick leave, rather than the previous ratio of 4 hours annual and 4 hours sick. However, employees were not permitted to use sick leave until the third consecutive day of illness. In addition, under the negotiated rule, unused annual leave in excess of 240 hours on December 31 of each year could be either converted to sick leave or the employee could receive payment for half of the excess hours at the employee's regular rate of pay.

When presented to the Administration Commission for

approval, however, the negotiated rule was altered to permit employees to use sick leave, starting on the first day of illness, if a doctor's certification was obtained. No challenge was filed by the unions to the Administration Commission's alteration of the negotiated terms of the proposed rule.

# 1987

In April of 1987, the Department of Administration, Office of State Employees' Insurance, submitted recommendations on the State Employees' Group Insurance Program, to the 1987 Florida Legislature. That report reflected no deficits or projected shortfalls in the trust fund for the Plan. Specifically, the report stated that:

Although total increases in Plan costs are projected at 15 percent for Fiscal Year 1987-88, current cash reserves in the Plan's Trust Fund are adequate to permit retaining state and employee premium contributions at their current levels, while at the same time assuring adequate reserves to cover all liabilities of the Plan.

(Vol. IV, p. 101). The Recommendations in the Report included keeping "state employee premium contributions at the current levels, and allow the Plan Trust Fund to absorb the projected additional costs." (Vol. IV, p. 102). The Report concluded that:

Since the current cash reserves in the Trust Fund are significantly more than necessary, it is recommended that increased contributions by the State and employees be deferred for Fiscal Year 1987-88. The Plan costs and the Trust fund balance will have to be reviewed prior to the 1988 Legislative session to determine if increased

contributions will be necessary in Fiscal Year 1988-89.

(Vol. IV, pp. 119-120). "As of March 31, 1987, the cash reserve balance was \$58,6000,000. According to industry standards, \$35,000,000 is sufficient for the Plan's cash reserves." (Vol. IV, pp. 103-104).

Subsequently, pursuant to Chapter 447 of the Florida

Statutes (1987), the Governor entered into collective bargaining agreements with several unions. The agreements were to be

effective between July 1, 1987, and June 30, 1990. These agreements incorporated by reference Section 22A-8 of the Florida Administrative Code. State v. Florida Police Benev. Ass'n, 613

So.2d at 416 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis supplied). The incorporation of the personnel rules on leave did not specify the leave rule as it existed on a particular date. Indeed, each of the contracts

Employees may be granted leave as provided in chapter 22A-8, Personnel Rules of the Career Service System.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Specifically, each of the agreements contained the following provisions relating to leave: Employees may be granted leave as provided in

<sup>7/1/87 - 6/30/90</sup> Agreement between the State and FNA, Article 18, \$1. (Vol. I, p. 61; Vol. V, p. 14).

The attendance and leave provisions as contained in Chapter 22A-8 of the Personnel Rules of the Career Service System shall apply to all bargaining Unit employees.

<sup>7/1/87 - 6/30/90</sup> Agreement between the State and PBA (Law Enforcement Unit), Article 18. (Vol. I, p. 31; Vol V, p. 52). Employees may be granted leaves of absence as provided in Chapter 22A-8 of the Personnel Rules of the Career Service System.

<sup>7/1/87 - 6/30/90</sup> Agreement between the State and Council 79 AFSCME, Article 18. (Vol. V, p. 80).

specifically acknowledged an obligation for the parties to continue discussions, during the term of the contract, regarding attendance and leave, as well as changes in the State employees insurance program.<sup>3</sup> However, the August 1986 version of the leave rule was the rule applied, as it was the rule in effect at that time.

For the first year of the contract, the annual and sick

# Article 32 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

Except as to the above subjects, the State and the Union, for the duration of this Contract, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to, or covered in this Contract, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Contract. (Vol. V, p. 82).

Specifically, each of the agreements contained the following provisions relating to further negotiations, during the term of these contracts, over changes in the State employees insurance program and attendance and leave:

<sup>(</sup>C) The State and the Union agree to continue discussions during the term of this Contract on the following subjects:

<sup>. . .</sup> changes in the State employees insurance program, wage rates, attendance and leave, proposed legislation and insurance benefits shall be subject to negotiations during the second year of this Contract for Fiscal Year 1989-90.

<sup>7/1/87 - 6/30/90</sup> Agreement between the State and Council 79 AFSCME, Article 32 (emphasis supplied). See virtually identical provisions contained in 7/1/87 - 6/30/90 Agreement between the State and FNA, Article 32; and 7/1/87 - 6/30/90 Agreement between the State and PBA (Law Enforcement Unit), Article 32. (Vol. I, pp. 34, 57; Vol. V, pp. 16, 55).

leave benefits were administered according to that rule, as revised by the Administration Commission, rather than as negotiated. However, the imposition of the requirement to obtain a doctor's certification in order to access sick leave for the first two days of illness became a contributing factor in the fiscal crisis the State experienced with its Health Insurance Trust Fund. The rule had the unintended consequence of exacerbating a burgeoning deficit in the Health Insurance Trust Fund by encouraging utilization of physician visits, even when not medically necessary. Id.

By February of 1988, the Fund was in a significantly different fiscal position than it had been the previous Spring. A substantial deficit had developed which required a sizable increase in funding for FY 1988-89. Factors contributing to the deficiency in the Fund included a lack of rate increase for the preceding three years, employee benefit enhancements, state and federally mandated benefit changes, an increase in enrollment of 10,000 members (Vol. IV, pp. 90, 96), and the 1986 changes to the sick leave policy to require obtaining a doctor certification. (Vol. IV, pp. 62, 96).

In a letter from James W. Hopper, Director of State and Special Markets for Blue Cross Blue Shield of Florida, to Carl Ogden, Director of the Office of State Employees' Insurance for the State of Florida, dated March 2, 1988, Mr. Hopper reported

significantly after implementation of the State's sick leave policy on 8/1/86. The seven month period following implementation of the negotiated sick leave policy, 1/1/87 to 7/31/87, was compared to the same seven month period for the preceding year. It revealed a 81% increase in the total number of physician office visits and an 86% increase in the total payments for Physician office visits. Although Mr. Hopper notes that other factors, such as increased enrollment, enhanced benefits, and increased utilization contributed to this increase, it is clear that the new rule was playing a factor in depleting the Health Insurance Trust Fund. (Vol. IV, pp. 90, 96).

On March 1, 1988, a report was presented to the Senate Appropriations Committee regarding the fiscal crisis in the Fund. That report revealed that claims were exceeding premiums by approximately \$4 million per month. Two years prior, the State Group Health Insurance Trust Fund had a surplus of approximately \$72 million. However, according to the Bureau of State Employees Insurance, the Trust Fund was subject to depletion prior to the end of current (FY 1988-89) fiscal year. (Vol. I, pp. 142-145, 147-149; Vol. II, pp. 1-12; Vol. IV, p. 80; see also same estimate of \$4 million monthly shortfall in Vol. IV, p. 97).

On March 22, 1988, several letters were sent between the Department of Administration and the Office of the Governor

regarding the deficit in the Fund, which was then estimated to be \$99,665,066 in FY 1988-89. The recommendation was made to request that the Economic Estimating Conference immediately review the issue and produce independent assumptions and projections of the deficit. (Vol. IV, pp. 126, 127).

The Economic Estimating Conference is composed of economists from the Governor's Office and the Legislature who meet regularly to provide economic forecasts and other financial information for use in the budgeting and appropriations process. The Conference is established by Section 216.136(1), Florida Statutes.

On April 4, 1988, an Economic Estimating Conference was held to determine the size of the Self-insurance Trust Fund deficit under the premium structure in place at that time and the impact of changes in premiums. The Conference estimated that the State would experience a deficit of \$122,259,930 in FY 1988-89 and a \$312,013,424 deficit in FY 1989-90 absent a change in premiums or implementation of cost savings measures. (Vol. III, p. 43; Vol. IV, p. 130).

In addition, in April of 1988, the Auditor General prepared a report on the causes of the problems with the Fund. The chart on page 5 of that report shows the significant decline in the trust fund balance from its peak in FY 1984-85. The report includes an analysis of the impact of the 1986 amendments to annual and sick leave (specifically the requirement of a doctor

certification), found in Rule 22A-8.011, F.A.C., on the deficit in the Fund. The Report concludes that:

It is difficult to determine precisely where the effects of PPC leave off and the effects of the sick leave policy begin (PPC went into effect Statewide on October 1, 1985, and the sick leave policy took effect August 1, 1986). However, it appears that the sick leave policy has exacerbated the trend toward higher utilization of plan benefits and, correspondingly, higher plan costs.

We <u>recommend</u> that the Department amend Rule 22A-8.011, F.A.C., to discontinue the need for a doctor's note for less than 3 days sick leave. This change is intended to discourage doctor visits that may not be medically necessary.

Changes to the benefits offered by the State group plan would probably constitute, for many employees, changes in the terms and conditions of employment, which are subject to collective bargaining. It is the Department's obligation under Chapter 447, F.S., to negotiate any benefit changes with the unions representing employees. Failure to negotiate changes would constitute an unfair labor practice by the State. Therefore, we <u>recommend</u> that the Department negotiate with the employee labor unions as soon as possible concerning the benefit changes being considered by the Department and the Legislature. The Legislature is not bound by the agreement developed by the Department and the unions in adopting annual appropriations (s. 447.309, F.S.).

(Vol. IV, pp. 62, 70) (emphasis in original).

In fact, the Department of Administration did negotiate over the amendment of these leave benefits throughout the Spring of 1988, both before and after the enactment of the Appropriations Act in 1988. (See, Vol. V, pp. 5-6; Vol. VI, pp. 113-116, 132-143, 150-184). No agreement was ever reached with

the unions, although impasse was not declared by either side. The unions sought to retain the additional annual leave and reduced sick leave balances in the August 1986 Rule, even after the elimination of the doctor certification requirement. The unions also proposed increasing Career Service annual leave balances to be carried over at the end of the calendar year from 240 to 360. The State did not agree to this proposal because the increase in annual leave was linked to the requirement of a doctor certification or failure to gain access to sick leave until the third consecutive day of absence. Without either of these qualifiers, the State would not agree to the increased annual leave balances. (See, Vol. V, pp. 5-6; Vol. VI, pp. 113-116, 132-143, 150-184).

On April 11, 1988, Pam Johnson, Division of Economic and Demographic Research, Joint Legislative Management Committee, issued a memorandum regarding cost savings measures for the Fund. The projected savings attributable to a return to the 1986 version of the sick leave policy was \$2,004,889 in FY 1988-89 and \$2,065,036 for FY 1989-90. (Vol. IV, p. 135).

The severity of the deficiency and the swiftness with which it befell the Fund led to the necessity for immediate implementation of remedial measures. (Vol. I, pp. 142-145, 147-149; Vol. II, pp. 1-12; Vol., p. 8).

Although agreement was never reached during the negotiations between the Executive Branch and the unions regarding alteration

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