# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, LAWTON CHILES, Governor of the State of Florida and FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO: 89,181

FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC., FLORIDA NURSES ASSOCIATION, et. al.,

Appellees.

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Counsel for Appellees

Gene "Hal" Johnson, Esquire Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc. 300 East Brevard Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-3329 Extension 406 Florida Bar No. 200141

Donald D. Slesnick II, Esquire Florida Nurses Association, Inc. 10680 N.W. 25th Street, Suite 202 Miami, Florida 33172-2108 Florida Bar No. 0149191

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is the position of the unions that the governor's appeal in this matter must be denied. The arguments advanced in his brief are contrary to the record evidence, the governor's admissions and the law of the case.

The governor's legal contention that the unilateral leave modification was lawful is totally without merit. The trial court's determination finding Section 9.3.A(5) of the 1988 Appropriation Action unconstitutional is proper and governed by the law of the case doctrine. Moreover, the governor has on several occasion conceded the legislature's action was improper and the trial court's order on that issue enforceable.

The governor's legal contention that the remedy directed by the trial court is improper is also without merit. The circuit court has clearly fashioned a remedy in this matter which is consistent with private sector law and Florida's public sector law.

Moreover, the governor's argument that his subsequent conduct, through legislative act and negotiations with the unions, limits the appropriate remedy in this matter is not correct from either an equitable or legal standpoint. The governor has not complied with the trial court's order by

restoring the leave benefits to the *status quo ante* and, thereafter, engaging in meaningful negotiations with the unions concerning leave benefits.

The governor is the wrongdoer in this matter and should not be given the "benefit of the doubt." The Court should require the governor to meet his obligations under the trial court's order. To do otherwise will effectively deny the employees which the unions represent the right to bargain collectively and in a meaningful manner.

## RESPONSE TO ARGUMENTS I and II

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S MARCH 5, 1996 ORDER WHICH REINSTATES AND ENFORCES CIRCUIT COURT'S MARCH 14, 1990 ORDER SECTION FINDING 9.3.A(5) PROPER UNCONSTITUTIONAL IS AND SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGED BYTHE GOVERNOR AS ENFORCEABLE.

It is the position of the unions that the governor cannot argue in good faith that the circuit court had no authority to reinstate and enforce its initial order rendered in March, 1990, which determined Section 9.3.A(5) of the 1988 Appropriations Act is unconstitutional. Not only is the reinstatement and enforcement of the March 14, 1990 order consistent with the Court's directive found in <a href="State">State</a> v. Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., 613 So.2d 415, 421 (Fla. 1992), but the governor has specifically acknowledged the impropriety of the section and the enforceability of the order.

The governor has advanced three arguments which contest the circuit court's determination finding Section 9.3.A(5) of the 1988 Appropriations Act to be unconstitutional. The unions will demonstrate these arguments are not only incorrect but are not advanced in good faith.

The procedural history of this case is well-documented. In 1988, the unions instituted a legal action which

contested the constitutionality of Section 9.3.A(5) of the 1988 Appropriations Act on the basis that it constituted a unilateral alteration of negotiated leave benefits by the legislature in violation of Article I, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution.

significant admissions including: (a) Section 9.3.A(5) altered the formula for calculating the accrual rate for annual and sick leave of career service employees represented by the unions; (b) the modifications of the accrual rate for leave benefits were implemented by the governor, and (c) the modifications in the accrual rate for leave "were accomplished without negotiations with, impasse resolution or the agreement" of the unions. Compare, Paragraphs 15-17, Complaint for Declaratory Relief, Gov. App. at Vol. I, pg. 5 and Paragraphs 15-17, Answer and Affirmative Defenses, Union App. at 15. Additionally, while the governor raised several affirmative defenses to the complaint, there was no claim the change in accrual rates was necessitated by a compelling state interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In fact, none of the governor's several motions for summary judgment claim the change in accrual rates was necessitated by a compelling state interest.

As this Court is well-aware, on March 14, 1990, the circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of the unions. In doing so, the court found: (a) the governor had admitted all the material facts of the (b) Section 9.3.A(5) altered the annual and sick leave benefits of the career service employees, (c) the changes were "accomplished unilaterally, without negotiations with, impasse resolution or the agreement" of the unions, and (d) the governor "neither allege[d] nor establish[ed] a compelling state interest for the unilateral" change in the leave benefits. The court concluded that, under the circumstances, Section 9.3.A(5) was unconstitutional as an abridgement of Article I, Section 6. Gov. App. at Vol. I, pgs. 88-90.

The governor appealed the March 14, 1990 order. In his brief to the court, the governor advised the court that the appeal was concerned "only with that portion of the March 14, 1990 order which declared 9.3.A(5) unconstitutional on Article I, § 6 grounds" and further advised it, "No appeal is taken of any other aspects of the Court's order...."

Union App. at 89, fn. 5.

In 1993, this case was returned to circuit court by this Court. A fair reading of this Court's decision does not establish the lower court's factual determinations were

rejected. Instead, it appears the Court was requiring the lower court to make additional findings of fact and legal determinations. Specific instructions to this effect were given. See 613 So.2d at 421.

The circuit court carried out the directives of this Court in its order of March 24, 1994. It made findings of fact and drew legal conclusions based upon the facts presented to it. The district court of appeal reviewed and affirmed the circuit court's second order. State v. Florida Police Benevolent Association, Inc., 653 So.2d 1124 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

When the case returned to the circuit court after review by the district court of appeal, the court reviewed the case in light of the order; reinstated the original order, and directed that it be enforced. The governor did not object to the court's enforcement of the circuit court's original order and did not appeal the court's March 5, 1996 order which specifically enforced the order. In fact, the governor has repeatedly acknowledged the validity of the original order and utilized it as a basis of his argument relating to the remedy in this case, stating "Defendants"

In actuality the governor could not object. None of the facts underlying the order had changed during the interim, and the legal analysis remained appropriate in light of the circuit court's findings on remand.

have attempted good faith compliance with all this Court's order, which effectively return the parties to the *status* quo ante as of June 30, 1988." <u>See</u> Governor's Response Opposing "Petition for Enforcement." Gov. App. at Vol. III, pg. 41.

with these facts before the Court, it is appropriate to examine the governor's contentions relating to the reinstatement and enforcement of the circuit court's original order in this case. The governor's first argument is that the court erred when it reinstated and enforced the circuit court's March 14, 1990 order. The governor asserts that the trial court had authority to rule solely on the question of the constitutionality of Section 9.3.A(5) of the 1988 Appropriations Act consistent with the instructions of this Court. Governor's Brief at 36.

The unions agree the circuit court's responsibility was to determine the constitutionality of Section 9.3.A(5). The record is abundantly clear the court performed that task consistent with this Court's instructions. The court examined the additional factual and legal issues posed by this Court. It concluded those facts and legal issues supported the original order of the circuit court in the case. Therefore, it reinstated and enforced the original

order. Significantly, this was done without objection or timely appeal of the judgment by the governor.

The unions would submit the circuit court's action in reinstating and enforcing the March 14, 1990 order is consistent with facts and the law. Furthermore, the governor is estopped from contesting the validity of the court's order, under the circumstances, especially in light of the governor's failure to timely appeal the judgment and the subsequent reliance on the terms of order in opposing the unions' petitions for enforcement. The action of the trial court reinstating and enforcing the original circuit court order should be upheld.

The governor's next argument contests the circuit court's orders in this matter on the basis that negotiations over the change in leave benefits had "in fact" occurred. Governor's Brief at 37. The simple response is this matter is controlled by the law of the case doctrine; however, in specific response to this argument, the unions would assert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The law is well-settled that once an appellate court has decided a question of law, the decision of the court becomes the law of the case and it may not be relitigated. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, § 14.12 at 246. This legal principle, known as the law of the case doctrine, is not limited to issues explicitly decided, but also precludes consideration of a point that could have been, but was not, presented in a prior appeal. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, § 14.2, note 1 (1995 Supplement) and Tillman v. Smith, 560 So.2d 344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

the governor's position is not only contrary to the evidence, but it is not advanced in good faith.

In 1990, the governor <u>admitted</u> the changes in the accrual rates for annual and sick leave provided for in Section 9.3.A(5) occurred unilaterally and without negotiations. Union App. at 15. Additionally, the unions provided affidavits supporting this factual assertion. Union App. at 25-30. The court made a specific finding to this effect in the original order. At no time on appeal to the district court of appeal or this Court did the governor ever contend that negotiations with the unions relating to the modifications in annual and sick leave required by Section 9.3.A(5) had occurred.

For eight years, this was not a disputed factual issue. On the contrary, it was an admitted fact. The governor cannot in good faith advise this Court to the contrary. It is simply contrary to the evidentiary record and must be rejected.

The governor's third argument relating to the validity of the circuit court order in this matter advances, for the first time, the contention that the legislature had a compelling state interest for altering the leave rule. Governor's Brief at 38. Once again, this issue is controlled

by the law of the case doctrine; however, in specific response to this argument, the unions would assert the governor's position is not only contrary to the evidence, but it is not advanced in good faith.

The record evidence in this case establishes that the governor has neither contended or presented evidence to establish the legislature had a compelling state interest for altering the accrual rates for annual and sick leave. On the contrary, the circuit court's initial order specifically found: "The Defendants neither allege nor establish a compelling state interest for the unilateral modification of the annual and sick leave benefits." Gov. App. at Vol. I, pg. 89. None of the governor's motions for summary judgment filed in the case advance this legal argument or provide factual support for the argument. At no time on appeal to the district court of appeal or this Court did the governor contend that the legislature's conduct in this matter was necessitated by a compelling state interest.

For eight years, this legal argument has not been advanced either factually or substantively. Clearly, the governor has not carried the burden of establishing a compelling state interest for the unilateral modification of the annual and sick leave benefits. 613 So.2d at 419, fn. 6. This argument must be rejected.

### RESPONSE TO ARGUMENTS III, IV and V

THEREMEDY DIRECTED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT TO RETURN THE LEAVE BENEFITS TO ANTESTATUS QUQ IS PROPER AND APPROPRIATE UNDER THE FACTS CASE.

While the governor has advanced numerous arguments in his initial brief for setting aside the trial court's order in this case, the governor's major concern is the remedy directed by the court. The governor argues essentially that the remedy is an abuse of discretion and extends the leave benefits beyond their appropriate term. These arguments are not valid. The trial court's order is consistent with well-settled labor policy, the announced policy of this Court and the circumstances of this litigation.

As just stated, the primary issue in this case is the remedy directed by the trial court when it initially determined the proviso language of Section 9.3.A(5) and the governor's conduct in implementing the section was unconstitutional as a violation of Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution. The court ordered a "make-whole" remedy by requiring the leave benefits be restored to the status quo ante the unconstitutional conduct. This Court agreed with the remedy directing that, if the legislative appropriation was sufficient to fund the negotiated leave

benefits, then such benefits must be enforced. 613 So.2d at 421.

At the outset, it must be noted that the remedy directed by the court is consistent with both private sector labor policy and Florida's public sector labor policy. Legal scholars in both sectors have recognized that the primary way to ensure "meaningful" collective bargaining is to order "the status quo ante be restored and that employees be made whole for any benefits that the employer has unilaterally discontinued." Morris, The Developing Labor Law, Volume II at 1665, Section Edition (BNA 1983). See also Vause, Labor and Employment in Florida-Law, Policy and Practice, Volume I, Section 3.8 at III-15 (Stetson University College of Law 1989). The status quo ante has been specifically recognized by the United States Supreme Court in the case of Fibreboard Paper Product Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 379 U.S. 203, 215 (1964) (employer's unilateral termination of maintenance work upon expiration of labor agreement found to be unlawful, remedy ordering employer to reinstate maintenance worker with back pay and to bargain with union held proper). It has been utilized bу the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission on numerous occasions, Marion County P.B.A. v. City of Ocala, 5 FPER ¶ 10088 (1979), aff'd, 392 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) and Pinellas County P.B.A. v. City of

<u>Dunedin</u>, 8 FPER ¶ 13102 (1982), and has, in fact, been recognized by this Court. <u>See Palm Beach Junior College v.</u>
<u>United Faculty of Palm Beach Junior College</u>, 475 So.2d 1221, 1227 (Fla. 1985) (employer and union returned to status quo existing at point of employer's unlawful conduct).

Clearly, the remedy directed by the trial court is appropriate. It is consistent with both private and public sector labor policy. More importantly, it is consistent with the fact that the right to bargain collectively is a fundamental right. This Court has repeatedly recognized the judiciary's responsibility to make that right "meaningful" and "effective," not "hollow and useless." See Hillsborough County Governmental Employees Association v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, 522 So.2d 358, 362 (Fla. 1988), United Teachers of Dade v. Dade County School Board, 500 So.2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1986) and City of Tallahassee v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 410 So.2d 487, 491 (Fla. 1981).

An examination of the governor's attack on the remedy directed by the trial court reveals that it falls into three categories: (1) the lack of a final order in the matter, (2) subsequent action of the legislature, and (3) the expiration of the unions' collective bargaining agreement which initially formed the basis of the complaint for declaratory

relief. None of these arguments are valid or provide a basis for rejecting the remedy directed by the trial court.

The governor's argument asserts that no relief in this matter is warranted because no final order has issued in the case. Governor's Brief at 52. This position cannot be maintained by the governor in good faith. In fact, the governor has on two occasions expressly represented to the district court of appeal that final judgments had been entered in the case.

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